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CLR did not understand the Mine Act, she also “[didn’t] understand . . .
negligence . . . , [didn’t] understand . . . [S&S], and if [she didn’t] understand
those, [she didn’t] understand the agency.”'*

iv. Safety and Health Conferences

The changing structure of MSHA’s Safety and Health Conference
(“Pre-Assessment S&H Conference”) is one of the primary causes fueling the
backlog.”* Pursuant to 30 C.F.R. § 100.6, an operator has the right to request a
Pre-Assessment S&H Conference after MSHA notifies the operator of a safety
or health violation.'”> The purpose of the Pre-Assessment S&H Conference is
to discuss the merits of any citation or order issued to an operator during an
inspection prior to formal litigation."*® Importantly, despite the evolving nature
of the S&H Conference over the past several years, MSHA has maintained the
operator’s right to request a conference as guaranteed by section 100.6 of the
Mine Act.

Pursuant to section 100.6, an operator’s request for a Pre-Assessment
S&H Conference with an MSHA District Manager must be submitted in
writing within ten days of notification of a violation."”” However, the District
Manager does not have a specified period of time in which to grant or deny the
request.””® If the District Manager grants the operator’s request, MSHA
considers additional information relevant to the issued citations and orders to
determine whether they should be vacated.” Notably, civil penalties are
assigned only after the conclusion of the Pre-Assessment S&H Conference. '

On February 4, 2008, MSHA issued Procedure Instruction Letter No.
108-111-01 (“2008 PIL”), which permitted inspectors and CLRs to only
address “high negligence” or “unwarrantable failure”'® citations and orders
during Pre-Assessment S&H Conferences.'® The 2008 PIL represented a

153 Id

13 See 30 C.F.R. § 100.6 (2014).

55 1d. § 100.6(a).

136 Seeid. § 100.6.

7 Id. § 100.6(b).

%8 Seeid § 100.6.

9 Id § 100.6(c).

0 Seeid. § 100.6(d).

"1 See 30 U.S.C. § 814(d)(1) (2006).

12 See MSHA Issues New Procedure Concerning Safety and Health Conferences, JACKSON

KerLy PLLC (Feb. 8, 2008), http:/safety-health.jacksonkelly.com/2008/02/msha-issues-niew-
procedure-concerning-safety-and-health-conferences.htmi.
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drastic departure from MSHA’s regular practice of granting conferencing
requests for any citations issued.'®

In March 2009, MSHA replaced the Pre-Assessment S&H Conference
with a Post-Assessment Enhanced Conference (“Enhanced Conference”).'®*
This new procedure required operators to submit a written request to the
Commission for an Enhanced Conference only after MSHA had assigned civil
penalties for the citations issued during an inspection.'®® MSHA also restricted
the scope of the Enhanced Conference by warning operators to “carefully
consider the violations to be discussed in order to narrow the scope of the
conference and facilitate a more meaningful and efficient” review.'®® MSHA
claimed the Enhanced Conference would save operators and MSHA the time
and expense of litigation.'”’

Although aimed at reducing operator abuse, the Enhanced Conference
propelled both parties into litigation and severely undermined
communication.'® Requests for Enhanced Conferences were often met with
“conference will be scheduled after. .. penalties... have been assessed. ..
[f]ailure to timely contest penalties will result in your conference request being
cancelled.”'® The lack of communication was a real impediment to mine
operators’ opportunity for a fair review.!”® Without operator input, MSHA
relied solely on an inspector’s report.'”' Due to the trust MSHA puts in its
inspectors, the likelihood of questioning the legitimacy of an inspector’s
actions was unlikely.'” As a result of the procedural inadequacies, the
Enhanced Conference forced both parties to enter into costly and time-
consuming litigation; thus, formal contests were “the only reliable avenue for
dialogue.”'”

In fact, on December 20, 2011, MSHA announced its plan to return to
the Pre-Assessment S&H Conference, where penalty amounts would once

163 Id

164 See U.S. DEP'T OF LABOR, PROGRAM INFORMATION BULLETIN NO. P09-05: PART 100

SAFETY AND HEALTH CONFERENCE PROCEDURE (2009), available at http://web.archive.org/web/
201310031023 10/http://www.msha.gov/regs/complian/PIB/2009/pib09-05.asp.

165 Id. (emphasis added).

16 g
167 Id
168 See Heenan, supra note 142.
19 4
g
171 Id.
172 Id
173 Id
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again be assigned after the conference took place.'”® MSHA decided to
reinstate the conferences based on the results of its Pre-Assessment Safety and
Health Conference Pilot Program (the “Pilot”) conducted from August 31,
2010, through November 30, 2010.'” In the Pilot, MSHA reinstated Pre-
Assessment S&H Conferences in three of 17 MSHA districts.'”® During the
pilot time period, operators could contact MSHA to request a Pre-Assessment
Conference to discuss violations and citations issued prior to a civil penalty
assessment.'”” The feedback from the participating districts was generally
positive; the majority of operators believed the conferences were a good idea
and should continue into the future.'™ They felt the conferences improved
communication with MSHA.'” However, the Pilot also revealed that a
significant lack of resources could be a real impediment to effective
implementation.'® For example, in one of the participating districts, 73% of
contested cases took greater than two months to schedule a conference due to a
lack of staffing.'® Comparatively, the other two districts were generally able to
schedule conferences in less than 60 days.'® In addition, MSHA contacted the
14 non-participating districts to specifically inquire as to what resources they
would need if MSHA reinstated the Pre-Assessment S&H Conferences.'®
Overall, MSHA found the number of conferencing and clerical staff required to
conduct the interviews was directly dependent on the number of conferences
requested and granted.'™ MSHA stated that as the number of contested
violations continued to rise, additional staff in most districts would be
necessary to meet the conferencing demand.'®> MSHA concluded the resources
for conferencing in the districts should be seriously considered, in conjunction
with the resources available to reduce the backlog.'*

7% U.S. DEP’T OF LABOR, PROCEDURE INSTRUCTION LETTER NO. 111-V-11: PART 100 SAFETY

AND HEALTH CONFERENCE PROCEDURES (2011) [hereinafter PROCEDURE INSTRUCTION LETTER
No. 111-V-11], available at http://www.msha.gov/regs/complian/PILS/2011/PIL11-V-11.asp.

175 See MSHA, EVALUATION OF MSHA’S PRE-ASSESSMENT SAFETY AND HEALTH
CONFERENCING Pior 1 (2011) [hereinafter PILOT EVALUATION], available at
http://www.msha.gov/PreAssess/PreAssessConfEval201 1 .pdf.

176 Id.

177 [d.

' Id at11.

179 Id

180 Seeid. at 12-13.
181 Seeid. at 20.
182 Id

8 Id at13.

184 Seeid.

185 Id.

186 Id
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Despite MSHA’s projected and anticipated lack of significant
resources, MSHA planned to institute the Pre-Assessment S&H Conferences in
every district by March 2013."¥ MSHA stated that “District Managers [were]
authorized and encouraged to implement the [P]re-[A]ssessment [Clonference
process immediately.”'™ However, MSHA asserted that because of the
increasing backlog before the Commission, District Managers had the
discretion to grant conferences based on available resources, but not the
responsibility to do $0.'¥ Moreover, MSHA admitted the District Manager’s
wide discretion will make implementation occur slowly “or not at all in some
districts, until other backlog reduction strategies take hold and make caseloads
more manageable.”'”

3. Results of the Commission’s Efforts

MSHA'’s initiatives to reduce the backlog have shown promise. In
2012, the Commission received 9,060 new cases,'®! compared to approximately
10,600 in 2011."”> The Commission normally anticipates a total of 11,000 case
dispositions annually.'” In 2012, the Commission exceeded that goal with a
total of 11,883 dispositions.l94 Notably, that included the Performance Coal
Company settlements (Massey’s Upper Big Branch), which totaled 1,241
cases.'” By the end of 2012, the Commission had 12,976 pending cases,
marking the second year the number of pending cases had dropped.'®® In 2013,
the Commission received 6,898 new cases, which is a 24% decrease from
2012."7 The Commission also experienced a 72% increase in case dispositions,
totaling 12,262.'*® The Commission credits this increase to the special “backlog

187 See Press Release, MSHA, MSHA to Start Using Pre-Assessment Conferencing
Procedures, (Dec. 1, 2011), available at http://www.dol.gov/opa/media/press/msha/MSHA
20111703.htm.

188 PROCEDURE INSTRUCTION LETTER NO. I11-V-11, supra note 174.

L

19 See Press Release, MSHA, supra note 187. As of February 21, 2014, MSHA had not

disclosed the number of districts in which the Pre-Assessment S&H Conferences have been
implemented.

191 See 2013 FMSHRC PERFORMANCE REPORT, supra note 83, at 10.

192 I d
193 Seeid at9.
)
195 11

19 Jd. In 2010, the Commission faced over 18,000 pending cases at the end of the year. In

2011, this number dropped to less than 16,000.
197
198 Id
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teams” within the OALJ that focused on resolving settlement cases.'” In
January 2014, the Commission faced 7,612 undecided cases, marking the third
consecutive year that the total number of pending cases has decreased.?”

Despite these improvements, the pressure of quickly disposing of cases
to reduce the backlog continues to result in significant increases in the number
of appeals to the Commission.”®' The Commission hears primarily two types of
appeals: substantive cases and default cases.’”® A substantive case results from
“an appeal of an ALJ’s decision on the merits,” whereas default cases result
from “an operator’s failure to timely contest a proposed penalty where it has
filed a motion to reopen the ALJ’s final order.”®®” Recently, the Commission
has faced a dramatic increase in both substantive and default contests.*® For
example, in 2008, eight petitions for review were filed and only four were
granted, compared to 66 filed petitions and 43 accepted in 2011.°® The
Commission had a brief reprieve in 2012, with only 52 petitions filed and 27
granted.”® Most recently, in 2013, 54 petitions were filed and 38 were
granted.””” The general increase of petitions filed in turn places a greater
burden on the Office of General Counsel (“OGC”), which prepares draft
opinions for the Commissioners based on its research into the petitioned
substantive cases.””® However, compared to most administrative appellate
courts, the number of cases heard by the Commission is very small.?*

Due to the backlog, in 2012 the Commission failed to meet its default
cases target.”’ In response to two Commissioners’ terms ending in 2012, the
Commission deemphasized ruling on default cases in order to spend additional
time on substantive cases.”'’ This resulted in an increase of older default cases
pending for decision, and at the end of 2012, 41 default cases remained on the
docket.”'> The Commission had set a target of only 15 cases.”’* However, in

199 I d

W0 Seeid.
0 14 at 12,
202 Id

203 Id

204 Id

205 I d

206 I d

207 Id

208 d

29 Seeid.
210 Id

AL Seeid.
212 2013 FMSHRC PERFORMANCE REPORT, supra note 83, at 14.
213 d
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2013, the Commission met its target goal for default cases and ended the year
with only nine pending cases.”"

Despite increased attention, the Commission also failed to meet its
2012 goals for reducing substantive cases.’® Of the cases that had been
pending for 12-18 months, the Commission aimed to have only 6 cases
remaining by the end of 2012; however, it ended the year with 13, or 23% of
the total docket.?'® Conversely, in 2013, the Commission met its goal of nine
cases pending at the end of the year.”'” The target for cases 18 months and
older was also not met in 2012, ending the year with 15 cases instead of two, as
the Commission had anticipated.”'® In 2013, the Commission once again failed
to meet its goal of having only two cases pending by the end of the year;
instead, the Commission faced 31 cases at the beginning of 2014.2"

The increased number of penalty cases at the trial level has also
increased the number of substantive cases on appeal.””® In 2009, operators
appealed only nine substantive cases to the Commission, compared to 55 in
2012.%2" In 2012, the Commission anticipated that the increase in petitions
would continue to rise for the “foreseeable future and perhaps accelerate as the
Commission’s judges issue a greater number of decisions in the course of
addressing the backlog.”*** In 2013, the Commission received 54 appeals and
met its prediction that the petitions would increase in the future.*>

The Commission’s proposed and implemented backlog strategies have
shown that MSHA’s policies consistently fail to address the underlying
problem—inconsistency and inefficiency within the administrative structure.
MSHA further complicated the problem by passing the new Final Rule for
Pattern of Violations, which altered the prior procedures at the expense of mine
operators’ due process rights. A closer look at the evolution of the POV
procedures illuminates how the problem persists.

214 Id

215 See id. In addition, the increased number of penalty cases at the trial-level has increased the

number of substantive cases. Id.

216 Id.
A7 Id at13.
28 1d at14.
219 Id

220 1d. at 12 (showing increased number of cases).

21 Seeid. at 13.

22 ppp. MINE SAFETY & HEALTH REV. COMM’N, JUSTIFICATION OF APPROPRIATION ESTIMATES

FOR COMMITTEE ON APPROPRIATIONS: FISCAL YEAR 2012, at 12, available at
http://www.fmshrc.gov/plans/FY 12budget_request.pdf.

223 2013 FMSHRC PERFORMANCE REPORT, supra note 83, at 12.
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1. PATTERN OF VIOLATIONS

Congress created the initial Pattern of Violation enforcement scheme in
response to an investigation of the 1976 Scotia Mine Disaster in Letcher
County, Kentucky,?** where 26 coal miners tragically lost their lives in two
explosions.”® The investigation revealed that Scotia and other mines had
inspection histories of recurrent violations, which significantly contributed to
the disasters.”® Congress concluded the existing enforcement schemes in the
Coal Act were unable to address the problem of persistent bad actors.””’
Congress intended the provision to be “[a]n effective tool to protect miners
when the operator demonstrates his disregard for the health and safety of
miners through an established pattern of violations.”**®

Ironically, until recently the POV provision had rarely been used as an
enforcement tool.”®’ It was only on April 12, 2011, that MSHA issued its “first”
official POV notices to two operators, 30 years after promulgation of the
regulations.*® However, from mid-2007 to today, MSHA has heavily exercised
its enforcement power under the pattern provision.”>' MSHA’s new Final Rule
became effective on March 25, 2013.2* The new Final Rule eliminates key
provisions from prior regulations that required hearing opportunities and formal
notice prior to issuance of a POV.*? Most importantly, the new Final Rule
relies on non-final orders to be included in the POV analysis.?*

The POV provision is economically devastating. After MSHA issues a
pattern, any subsequent safety or health violations require the inspector to issue
a withdrawal order, which restricts access to the affected area until the hazard
has been abated.”® This powerful tool halts operations and effectively closes

24 Heath & Garcia, supra note 12, at 589.

See Mine Accidents and Disasters: Scotia Mine Explosions, U.S. MINE RESCUE ASS’N,
http://www.usmra.com/saxsewell/scotia.htm (last visited Sept. 24, 2014).

26 Heath & Garcia, supra note 12, at 589.

227 Id

28 g Rep. NO. 95-181, at 32 (1977), reprinted in 1977 U.S.C.C.AN. 3401, 3432,
2 Heath & Garcia, supra note 12, at 588.

B0 14 In 2008, MSHA issued a POV notice to National Coal in Knoxville, Tennessee;
however, it was quickly removed after a clean inspection. /d. at 588 n.1.

B 14 at588.

2 pattern of Violations, 78 Fed. Reg. 5056, 5056 (Jan. 23, 2013) (to be codified at 30 C.F.R.
pt. 104).

B3 Heath & Garcia, supra note 12, at 591-92.
B4 Ppattern of Violations, 78 Fed. Reg. at 5056.

B5  See Pattern of Violations (POV) Procedures Summary, MSHA, available at
http://www.msha.gov/POV/POVProcedures.pdf (last visited Oct. 16, 2014).

225
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the mine.*®* MSHA has admitted that it is difficult for a mine to avoid further
violations during subsequent inspections after it already has been placed on
POV status.”>’ Only two mines have been placed on a pattern in the history of
the Mine Act and neither has reopened.?®

The prior pattern criteria sufficiently protected operators’ rights by
providing multiple review and hearing opportunities prior to placing the mine
on a pattern. The prior regulations also permitted inspectors to only consider
final orders in its POV assessment. Now, however, an operator’s opportunity to
contest notices and citations prior to being placed on a pattern are restricted,
and inspectors have the power to consider non-final citations and orders. The
implementation of MSHA’s new Final Rule harms the economic vitality of the
mine and inhibits due process of law.

A. Prior Pattern Criteria

The prior POV regulations required two investigatory screenings prior
to issuing a POV, during which an MSHA investigator examined the mine for
S&S violations.”® The screening process was divided into an initial screening
and, if necessary, a pattern of violations screening.’*’ The regulations required
MSHA to review a mine’s compliance history and conduct an inspection at
least once per year.”*' Specifically, the inspector could consider S&S
violations, withdrawal orders, imminent danger orders, other enforcement
measures applied to the mine, evidence of a lack of good faith in correcting
S&S violations, accident or injury history indicating serious safety or health
management problems, and mitigating factors.>* Most controversial, and what
the new Final Rule omits, is that only orders and citations adjudicated and

86 Seeid.

37 pattern of Violations, 55 Fed. Reg. 31128, 31129 (July 31, 1990) (to be codified at 30
C.F.R. pt. 104). MSHA stated in the POV Final Rule for the old Mine Act:
The Agency realizes that the statutory requirements for terminating a pattern
of violations sequence place a great burden on the operator of the mine. An
inspection of the entire mine, particularly a large underground mine, that
reveals no violations of a significant and substantial nature may be difficult
to achieve.

1d.
8 Press Release, MSHA, U.S. Labor Department’s MSHA Places 2 Mining Operations on

Pattern of Violations Status: Unprecedented Enforcement Action Is First in Mine Act History
(Apr. 12, 2011), available at http://www.dol.gov/opa/media/press/msha/MSHA20110532.htm.

2% Heath & Garcia, supra note 12, at 591 (citing prior regulations at 30 C.F.R. §§ 104.2-
104.3).

240 Id
241 Id
242 Id
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confirmed by the Commission (“final orders”) could be considered during the
screening.?®

If the initial screening revealed a recurring pattern of S&S violations,
MSHA conducted a second screening to determine if the mine had a potential
POV (“PPOV”).** During the PPOV screening, MSHA evaluated the
operator’s history of S&S violations and any S&S violations specifically
related to the identified hazard(s).?*’ It also determined whether the operator’s
unwarrantable failure to comply caused the S&S violations.?*® Notably, MSHA
also was limited to review of final orders during the PPOV screening.”’

Previously, if an inspector identified a PPOV the MSHA District
Manager provided written notice to the operator describing the specific basis
for its finding.**® Within 20 days, the operator could review the inspection
documents and provide additional information to explain discrepancies or
mistakes.2* The operator could request a conference with a District Manager to
discuss the PPOV notice and propose solutions.”®® Also, the operator could
choose to implement a safety plan to prevent future S&S violations.”' If the
operator elected, the District Manager could take up to 90 days to review the
program’s effectiveness at reducing S&S violations.?*? If the District Manager
continued to believe the mine was at risk of a pattern, she reported her
evaluation to the MSHA Administrator (“Administrator”) within four months
of the mine’s PPOV notice or within two months if the mine did not implement
a safety program.?” Ten days prior to submitting the report, MSHA provided
the operator with a copy of the report and the operator could submit written
comments to the Administrator.”® Within 30 days of receiving the district
manager’s report, the Administrator issued his decision of whether or not the
mine should be placed on a pattern.”>> MSHA could then terminate the pattern
notice if the inspector did not find any S&S violations in a subsequent

14 at 600-01.
2 Id at592.
5 Id. at597.
6 Id. at 592.
247 Id

248 Id

249 Id

250 Id

251 I d

252 I d

253 Id

254 Id

255 I d
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inspection or if MSHA had not issued a withdrawal order within 90 days of the
pattern notice. >

As set forth in the Mine Act, once a mine is placed on POV status it is
subject to a closure order if any S&S violation is discovered during a
subsequent inspection.””” While on a pattern, an operator could request an
inspection to terminate the pattern designation; however, MSHA did not have
to provide notice and solely determined the parameters of the investigation.”

B. Current Pattern Criteria

MSHA created its new Final Rule in response to findings from the
Office of the Inspector General’s report (“OIG report”) on MSHA’s faulty
implementation of its pattern authority. 2% The OIG audited MSHA in response
to heightened concern regarding MSHA’s process for identifying mines with
POVs.” The report found the POV regulations limited MSHA’s ability to
exercise its POV authority as the Mine Act intended and made it difficult to
place mines on POV status. 28! As a result, MSHA created its new Final Rule to
comply with statutory and leglslatlve intent to restore safe and healthy working
conditions to noncompliant mines.’

The most controversial aspect of the law is the fact that the new Final
Rule severely restricts notice and hearing procedures. 263 Specifically, it
eliminates the two-step PPOV notice and review process, and it permits MSHA
inspectors to consider non-final citations and orders in its POV assessment. 264
The industry vehemently asserts these revisions eliminate an operator’s due
process rights to notice and hearing prior to issuance of a pattern notice.**’

36 1d at 594.
BT 30 US.C. § 814(e)(1) (2013).
28 Seeid.

2% OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL, U.S. DEP’T OF LABOR, IN 32 YEARS MSHA HAs NEVER
SUCCESSFULLY EXERCISED ITS PATTERN OF VIOLATIONS AUTHORITY 1-3 (2010), available at
http://www.oig.dol.gov/public/reports/oa/2010/05-10-005-06-001.pdf.

0 Seeid.
%0 g

22 See Pattern of Violations, 78 Fed. Reg. 5056, 5056 (Jan. 23, 2013) (to be codified at 30
C.F.R. pt. 104).

63 Seeid.
264 Seeid.

265 Heath & Garcia, supra note 12, at 599.
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1. Elimination of PPOV Notice Procedures

MSHA strongly disputes the industry’s due process concerns.”®® It
argues its current review procedures, as well as the Mine Act, confer adequate
procedural due process.”®’ MSHA’s reasoning is largely based on its position
that operators have a continuing obligation to remain current with their
compliance history.”*® Specifically, MSHA argues that mine operators should
know the details of their compliance history; therefore, advance notice to an
operator who may be approaching a pattern is unnecessary.”® MSHA also
believes the new Final Rule will incentivize mine operators to continually
evaluate their performance on a long-term basis.”’”°

To fulfill the operator’s responsibility, MSHA encourages use of its
computerized notification program, the “Online Monthly Monitoring Tool”
(“Monitoring Tool”), as a replacement for the PPOV screening. " The
Monitoring Tool is available 24 hours a day, and it displays the amount and
type of an operator’s violations compared to MSHA’s pattern criteria posted on
its website.””* Additionally, the online program indicates whether the operator’s
S&S violations trigger POV criteria.””” MSHA insists the Monitoring Tool
eliminates “uncertainty surrounding POV status” and allows operators to
perform “the same review of their compliance and accident data as MSHA."*"
MSHA also asserts the Monitoring Tool allows operators to verify the accuracy
of the information.””> MSHA concludes that, collectively, citations and orders
issued to a mine, the constant availability of POV criteria posted on its website,
and greater use of the Monitoring Tool provides sufficient notice to “alert
operators of the possibility they may be subject to a POV.”>"

Furthermore, MSHA maintains that its regulatory procedures and
certain Mine Act provisions provide sufficient review opportunities to satisfy
due process.””” In support, MSHA provides five pre- and post-deprivation
procedures that exist in its regulatory scheme: (1) operators may discuss
citations and orders with an inspector during the inspection and at the informal

266 Pattern of Violations, 78 Fed. Reg. at 5061.

267 1 d
28 1d. at 5058.
269 1 d

0 Id. at 5059.
2 1 at 5058.
22 1d. at 5059.

273 Id.
274 Id.
275 Id.
76 Id at 5061.
217 Id.
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closeout conference; (2) operators may request a Pre-Assessment S&H
Conference to review citations and orders, and present additional evidence; (3)
an operator approaching POV status may implement a corrective action plan
(“CAP”) to reduce future S&S violations; (4) the operator can meet with a
District Manager to discuss discrepancies in MSHA'’s data when it is issued a
POV; and (5) an operator’s right under the Mine Act to request expedited
temporary relief from a POV is an adequate post-deprivation procedure.”’® In
its new Final Rule, MSHA argues these provisions are satisfactory in providing
notice and hearing to operators prior to issuing a pattern.*”

First, MSHA asserts that mine operators can discuss citations and
orders with an inspector both during the inspection and at the informal closeout
conference.”® Following an inspection, the inspector must schedule an
informal closeout conference with the operator.”® During the conference, the
inspector provides “a summary of all enforcement actions taken,”?** which
includes issued citations and orders.”®® Additionally, the operator must develop
a plan to prevent recurrence of “violations, hazards, and accidents.”® The
inspector is responsible for informing the District Manager of any concerns
discussed in the meeting,**’

Second, MSHA states that an operator can request a Pre-Assessment
S&H Conference with a District Manager or a field office supervisor to review
citations and orders, in addition to presenting other relevant evidence.?*® During
this conference, MSHA provides an interpretation of regulations and discusses
potential disputes in MSHA’s data prior to issuing a civil penalty or
commencing formal litigation.®” Under the Mine Act, a mine oggerator has the
right to contest each citation or order issued after an inspection.’

However, MSHA has sole discretion to grant the request for a
conference and to determine its nature.”® Within ten days of receiving a
citation, the operator may submit additional information or request a Pre-

278 Id
0 Seeid.
80 g

1 MSHA, COAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH GENERAL INSPECTION PROCEDURES HANDBOOK

2-6 to -7 (2013) [hereinafter GENERAL INSPECTION PROCEDURES HANDBOOK], available at
http://www.msha.gov/READROOM/HANDBOOK/PH13-V-1.pdf.

22 Id at2-7.

% pattern of Violations, 78 Fed. Reg. at 5061.

284 GENERAL INSPECTION PROCEDURES HANDBOOK, supra note 281, at 2-7.
285 Id

286 Ppattern of Violations, 78 Fed. Reg, at 5061.

287 Id.

8 30 CF.R. § 100.6(a) (2013).

% 14§ 100.6(b).
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Assessment S&H Conference, which must be in writing and include a brief
statement of the reason(s) why each citation or order should be reviewed.”
During the conference, all parties may submit additional information relevant
to the citation,”' including any mitigating circumstances implemented by the
operator.””?> MSHA reviews the relevant information and “the facts warrant a
finding that no violation occurred,” the citation or order is vacated.”® At the
conclusion of the conference, MSHA’s Office of Assessments evaluates the
citations and orders for proper penalty amounts.”**

Third, MSHA points out that an operator approaching POV status may
implement a CAP to reduce future S&S violations. % CAPs are comprehensive
implementation plans for future safety im?rovements that are tailored to the
mine’s specific compliance problems.”®® CAPs contain benchmarks for
implementation and specific guidelines are posted on MSHA’s website. "’
Before a CAP may be implemented, MSHA must evaluate the CAP to
determine whether it is structured to result in “meaningful, measurable, and
significant reductions in S&S violations.””*® If MSHA approves the CAP and
the operator successfully implements it, MSHA considers the program a
mitigating circumstance in its POV assessment.”*

Fourth, MSHA argues that after a mine is issued a POV, an operator
can request to meet with its District Manager for the “limited purpose” of
discussing discrepancies in MSHA’s data.’® Possible discrepancies include
incorrectly entered citations on MSHA’s Monitoring Tool, citations that have
been adjudicated but not yet recorded in MSHA’s system, and erroneous
citations.>® During the meeting, the operator may question the underlying data
on which the inspector issued the pattern and offer documentation to support
his position.”® After MSHA verifies the alleged discrepancies, MSHA may
terminate the pattern.*”

24

B 30 U.S.C. § 815(c)(2) (2012).

22 PROCEDURE INSTRUCTION LETTER NO. [11-V-11, supra note 174.
3 30 CF.R. § 100.6(d).

294 Id.

25 Ppattern of Violations, 78 Fed. Reg. 5056, 5061 (Jan. 23, 2013) (to be codified at 30 C.F.R.
pt. 104).

26 Id. at 5063.
297 Id
298 Id
29 Id at5061.
300 1d. at 5065.

301 T d.
02 Id. at 5066.
303 I d.
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Finally, MSHA asserts that the opportunity to request expedited
temporary relief from a pattern designation under section 105(b)(2) of the Mine
Act is an adequate post-deprivation procedure.®® Under this section, an
operator may request expedited temporary relief from a pattern designation or
withdrawal order’® within 30 days of issuance.’” MSHA reviews the request
within 72 hours of receipt, and if granted, the case is assigned to an ALJ.>*"” An
ALJ will accept the request if it raises “issues that require expedited review.”**
The Commission has not defined these “issues”;’® however, AL)’s have
consistently held that “for the contestant to prevail, it must bear the burden of
showing extraordinary or unique circumstances resulting in continuing harm or
hardship.”*'® For example, the Commission has found a withdrawal order that
is still in effect when it reviews the request is sufficient grounds for the
contestant to prevail.’'! In addition, the Commission may grant relief only if:
(1) a hearing was held in which all parties had an opportunity to be heard; (2)
the applicant proves that a substantial likelihood exists for the Commission’s
findings to be favorable to the applicant; and (3) temporary relief will not put
the health and safety of miners at risk.

2. Final Orders as Criteria for POV Designation

Prior to the new Final Rule, MSHA considered “[o]nly citations and
orders issued after October 1, 1990, and that have become final shall be used to
identify mines with a potential pattern of violations under this section” in its
initial compliance review.’"> The new Final Rule revised these criteria to

4 Id. at 5061.

305 30 U.S.C. § 815(b)(2) (2013). Orders or citations issued under Pattern of Violations, 30
C.F.R§ 104(a) of the Mine Act—non-S&S citations—or § 104(f)—<citations for sample
violations—do not qualify for expedited relief.

36 29 C.F.R. § 2700.23(a) (2013).

307 Ppattern of Violations, 78 Fed. Reg. at 5061.

308 g

3% See Consol. Coal Co., Docket Nos. WEVA 94-157-R, 94-158-R, 94-159-R, at 496
(FMSHRC Feb. 14, 1994), http://www.fmshrc.gov/decisions/alj/94020495.pdf (contest
proceedings).

0 Id.; see also Energy West Mine Co., 15 FMSHRC 2223, 2223 (1993); Pittsburg & Midway
Coal Mining Co., 14 FMSHRC 2136, 2136 (1992); Medicine Bow Coal Co., 12 FMSHRC 904,
906 (1990).

311 See Consol. Coal Co., Docket Nos. WEVA 94-157-R, 94-158-R, 94-159-R, at 496-97
(FMSHRC Feb. 14, 1994), http://www.fmshrc.gov/decisions/alj/94020495.pdf (contest
proceedings).

32 30 US.C. § 815(b)2)(AMC) (2013).

313 pattern of Violations, 78 Fed. Reg. 5056, 5059 (Jan. 23, 2013) (to be codified at 30 C.F.R.
pt. 104) (emphasis in original).
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include non-final citations and orders.™* Specifically, MSHA now considers
the following factors in its POV review: (1) citations for S&S violations; (2)
orders for not abating S&S violations under section 104(b) of the Mine Act; (3)
citations and withdrawal orders issued under section 104(d) of the Mine Act
resulting from the mine operator’s unwarrantable failure to comply; (4)
imminent danger orders under section 107(a) of the Mine Act; (5) orders under
section 104(g) of the Mine Act requiring withdrawal of miners who have not
received training and who MSHA declares to be a hazard to themselves and
others; (6) enforcement measures, other than section 104(e) of the Mine Act,
that have been applied at the mine; (7) other information that demonstrates a
serious safety or health management problem at the mine, such as accident,
injury, and illness records; and (8) mitigating circumstances.*"?

MSHA uses these eight factors listed above to evaluate a mine’s
accident record.*'® Also, MSHA will continue to post the specific criteria on its
website that mine operators should access to evaluate their performance.’"’
Specific criteria for identifying a pattern designation include the number and
rate of S&S violations.*'®

If, after an inspection, MSHA determines the mine meets POV criteria,
the District Manager will issue a POV notice to the operator that specifies the
basis for MSHA’s decision.’"® The procedures following a POV notice—
request for an inspection, closure orders for subsequent S&S violations found
within 90 days of POV notice, and termination procedure—mirror those that
existed prior to the new Final Rule.*”

However, MSHA’s procedures preceding the POV notice are much
different, as is the inclusion of non-final orders into the POV calculation.
MSHA argues it is not bound to only consider final orders for the following
reasons: (1) considering all orders and citations reveals a mine’s most recent
compliance history; (2) the Mine Act does not prevent MSHA from revising the
criteria; and (3) the final order requirement is inconsistent with the Mine Act’s
legislative history.**'

First, MSHA argues the final order requirement impedes its ability to
consider a mine’s most recent compliance history, because finalization of

313 Seeid. at 5056.
315 Id.
316 Id.

317 Id. For more specific POV criteria, see Pattern of Violations Screening Criteria — 2013,

MSHA, available at http://www.msha.gov/pov/POVScreeningCriteria2013.pdf (last visited Oct.
16,2014).

318 pattern of Violations, 78 Fed. Reg. at 5056.

319 30 US.C. § 814(a) (2013).

30 14§ 814().

321 See Pattern of Violations, 78 Fed. Reg. at 5059-60.
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